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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr J McAvoy

	Scheme
	:
	The Royal Ordnance Pension Scheme

	Respondents
	:
	BAE Systems plc (BAE) (Employer)
Royal Ordnance (Crown Service) Pension Scheme Trustees Limited (Trustees)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Mr McAvoy asserts that he was not properly considered for ill health retirement.
2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS
Trust Deed and Rules

3. Relevant extracts from the Trust Deed and Rules for the Scheme can be found in Appendix 1.

Background

4. Mr McAvoy was employed by BAE (or its predecessors) from March 1980 to May 2002. From 1990 to 2002, Mr McAvoy was employed as a Security, Fire and Rescue Officer.
5. Mr McAvoy applied for medical retirement from deferred status in June 2003. His letter was acknowledged by the Group Pensions department (Group Pensions) on 23 June 2003. Mr McAvoy was asked to complete two forms: a personal information form, to provide contact details for his GP and consultants, and an access to medical reports form. He completed the forms in July 2003 and Group Pensions referred his case to a Dr O’Brien (an occupational physician with Company Health). Dr O’Brien wrote to Group Pensions on 12 September 2003:
“I have finally received GP report [see Appendix 2] on this man but all it tells me is that he has had back pain for 20 years and has taken tablets from time to time. I am still waiting for a report from the specialist. Unfortunately, it is my experience that orthopaedic specialists are very slow to reply to letters, if they ever do. I shall, however, chase this one.”

6. The Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon, Mr Hullin, wrote to Dr O’Brien on 14 October 2003:
“Many thanks for your enquiry … I enclose copies of my clinic letters dating back to 1997 and trust these are helpful.”
Extracts from Mr Hullin’s letters can be found in Appendix 2.
7. In October 2003, Mr McAvoy submitted a letter to his GP from a physiotherapist, dated 11 December 2000, and asked that it be taken into account in considering his case. Group Pensions forwarded this to Dr O’Brien. The physiotherapist said:
“This gentleman has long standing LBP. He was last seen at the SGH in Nov-99 and told to contact again if no better. He has had laser Rx … intensive osteopathy and previous Physio to no effect.

Most recent physio exam showed a severe loss of extension of his lumber spine. Exercises to … this deficit have been too painful. His GP injected his spine today. Symptoms … effect activities and daily living. I wonder if a course of hydrotherapy at the Southern would help or ? pain clinic.”

8. Dr O’Brien reported on 25 October 2003:
“Mr McAvoy has had back pain since 1995. He attended an Orthopaedic Surgeon and was advised that there is no specific treatment for his condition but that he should keep himself moving. It is noted that he had not lost any time at work when first seen in 1997. He appears to have been seen a total of four times, being discharged on each occasion by the Surgeon with the same advice.

I have received a report from [Mr Hullin]. This states that Mr McAvoy was first seen in December 1997 with a two year history of pain in his back. It is noted that he has had some benefit from Osteopath treatment and pain killers. The diagnosis was of mechanical low back pain, which means that there is no specific treatment available. It is noted that his movements are greater when he is distracted, but he nonetheless is showing no illness behaviour and is annoyed with his complaint rather than exaggerating it. He was advised about care of his back and the importance of exercise, but there was no serious underlying abnormality and no review was arranged.

…

I have also received a copy of a hand written letter in December 2000 to Mr Hullin from a Physiotherapist, whose name I cannot read. The Physiotherapist has stated that treatment is painful and has suggested hydrotherapy or referral to a Pain Clinic, both of which Mr Hullin, in correspondence that I have, has advised would not be of any benefit to Mr McAvoy.

In summary, Mr McAvoy has back pain and this is accepted. However, there is no reason why he should not be able to continue in remunerative employment and, in fact, this will be to the benefit of his back.”

9. The Trustees decided to reject Mr McAvoy’s application. Group Pensions wrote to Mr McAvoy on 24 November 2003, informing him of the Trustees’ decision. They said:
“The Trustees have reviewed your case and I must advise that, while sympathetic to your medical needs, your application has not been approved at this time. Under the Rules of the Pension Scheme, Medical Retirement is defined as:-

“Retirement on medical grounds due to incapacity (resulting from accident or bodily or mental infirmities) which in the opinion of the Trustees (acting on the advice of the Medical Officer or in reliance upon evidence produced by the Member) permanently prevents the Member from performing his/her duties.”
There is a system in place, which allows you to appeal against this decision … However any appeal you submit … must be supported by fresh medical evidence, which has not been previously considered by the Trustees.”

10. Mr McAvoy appealed. On his appeal form, Mr McAvoy ticked a box to say that he was appealing as a result of “a deterioration or change in medical condition”. Group Pensions referred his case to Aon Health Solutions (now Capita Health Solutions (Capita)) and asked that they arrange an appointment for him. They sent copies of Mr McAvoy’s appeal and documents pertaining to his original application.
11. A Dr Wallington (Consultant Occupational Physician with Capita) prepared a report in May 2004. He stated that he had reviewed reports provided by Dr Doherty in January 2004 (see Appendix 2), Mr Hullin over the period 1997 to 2003 (see Appendix 2), Mr McAvoy’s GP in September 2003 and January 2004 (see Appendix 2) and Dr O’Brien (see above). Dr Wallington said:
“I have been asked to carry out an Independent Medical Assessment … for the purposes of assessing his eligibility for ill health retirement … The definitions are as follows:

‘a physical or mental disability or illness which in the opinion of the Trustees (acting on the advice of the Medical Officer or in reliance upon evidence produced by the Member) prevents the Member from following his normal employment and/or which seriously impairs his earning capacity’
‘Retirement from Service on medical grounds due to Incapacity (resulting from accident or bodily or mental infirmities) which in the opinion of the Trustees (acting on the advice of the Medical Officer or in reliance upon evidence produced by the Member) permanently prevents the Member from performing his duties’
…

Mr McAvoy is a 46-year-old man, previously employed as a fire security officer with BA systems until he left in May 2002.

The GP reports that [Mr McAvoy] first complained of pain in his back in February 1984.

Since that time he has attended his GP surgery and has been seen in the orthopaedic clinic on many occasions.

This man has been diagnosed with mechanical low back pain, for which there is no specific treatment and in particular surgical intervention has no part to play.

Mechanical low back pain is condition, which an individual must learn to live with and in particular the importance of exercise and maintaining mobility, has been explained to him on numerous occasions.

With the exception of heavy lifting and work requiring frequent lifting and bending, there is no reason why Mr McAvoy should not remain in employment.

Mr McAvoy has significant difficulty in accepting the specialist advice he has been given in regard to this, but nevertheless serious underlying pathology has been excluded.

Mr McAvoy has simple mechanical low back pain. I have reviewed the professional security officer manual, issued to November 1999 and from review of the reports conclude that his condition is compatible with carrying out the majority of these activities. As I have indicated the only ones it would be inadvisable for him to do are heavy lifting and lifting associated with frequent bending.

Mr McAvoy has got to learn to live with his medical condition and accept the advice of the orthopaedic surgeons and therefore my recommendation is that he does not meet either of the requirements for ill health retirement.”

12. The Trustees decided to dismiss Mr McAvoy’s appeal and Group Pensions notified him of this on 15 July 2004. They explained that the Trustees did not feel that Mr McAvoy’s medical assessment met the Scheme’s criteria for Incapacity or Full Medical retirement. Group Pensions set out the definitions of Incapacity and Full Medical Retirement as follows:

“Incapacity means physical or mental deterioration which exists at the time employment ends and, which, in the opinion of the Trustees (acting on the advice of a medical officer appointed by the Trustees or in reliance upon evidence you produce), is sufficiently serious to prevent you permanently from following the normal employment.
Full Medical Retirement means retirement from service due to the state of physical or mental health (resulting from accident or bodily or mental infirmities).Your state of health must exist at the time your employment ends and should, in the opinion of the Trustees (acting on the advice of a medical officer appointed by the Trustees or in reliance upon evidence you produce), permanently prevent you from performing the duties of your employment. Your duties will include any other duties which the Trustees consider it could be reasonable for you to undertake, taking into account your physical and mental health (ignoring for this purpose any shortage of work).”
13. Group Pensions also explained that Mr McAvoy could appeal via the Scheme’s Internal Dispute Resolution (IDR) procedure. Mr McAvoy submitted an appeal on 21 September 2004 and said that additional information was available, which would help his case. He referred to letters from his physiotherapist (December 2000), Mr Hullin (18 December 2000 and 28 July 2004) and a Dr McCullum (23 July 2004) (see Appendix 2). Mr McAvoy also said that he had been to a medical board for the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) in March 2003 and been told that he was unfit for work. He said that he had been on Incapacity Benefit since 31 May 2002.

14. Mr McAvoy asked for a copy of his job description. He subsequently asked for the IDR procedure to be put on hold until a copy of the job description was available. Group Pensions returned Mr McAvoy’s IDR appeal papers to him and said that they had asked BAE for a job description. In November 2004, Mr McAvoy was provided with a copy of the document which had been sent to Capita. This was an 18 page training document entitled “The Professional Security Officer”.
15. Mr McAvoy pointed out that this was not a job description. Group Pensions contacted BAE to see if a job description could be provided. They wrote to Mr McAvoy on 24 January 2005:

“I can confirm that we have not been able to obtain a formal job description. We have received a copy of a training manual issued to Guard Force Officers called, ‘The Professional Security Officer’, a copy of which has been issued to you previously. We have also received a short email that summarises your duties. The email is written by … who is Operations, Safety, Health, Environment and Security Manager, and in it he states the following:

“Guards were trained as a first level response team to site emergencies which necessitated them being fully trained fire-fighters including specialist breathing apparatus training. All guards were first aid trained and trained to NVQ level 2. Duties also included man guarding, protection of premises and property, access control and knowledge and experience of the Bishopton site”

As discussed I would be grateful if you would consider the information provided and supply any further evidence that you believe will support you claim for a medical retirement pension. This will then be issued to the Trustees for comment under the Internal Dispute Resolution.”

16. In his response, Mr McAvoy said:
“In [Group Pensions’] letter dated 24th January 05, it referred to an e-mail from … His interpretation of my job description is

1/
First level response team to site emergencies

2/
Being fully trained fire fighters including regular breathing apparatus training

3/
Carry out fire fighting exercises at weekends

This information should have been available when I applied for medical retirement on July 03 and September 04 …”

17. Mr McAvoy asked for this information to be considered at his appeal, together with the medical evidence he had previously submitted.

18. Dr Wallington provided another report, on 22 February 2005, in which he said:
“Following my assessment in respect of Mr McAvoy dated 21st May 2004, I have been supplied with a hand written letter from Mr McAvoy which is undated containing information regarding his duties involving first level response activities to site emergencies, being fully trained as a fire fighter including regular breathing apparatus training and to carry out fire fighting exercises at weekends. This appears to have been supported by a letter from [Group Pensions] dated 24th January 2005. In addition, I have reviewed a report from [Mr McCallum] dated 2.8.04, a letter from a physiotherapist dated 11.12.00, a letter from Mr Hullen (sic) … typed on 28.7.04 and 21.12.04.

The purpose of this reassessment is to determine whether the information regarding the fire fighting and breathing apparatus training would impact on my previous decision regarding eligibility for ill-health retirement benefits.

The reports confirm absolutely the diagnosis of Mr McAvoy’s condition, i.e. mechanical low back pain.

The reports re-confirm that Mr McAvoy needs to remain active as evidence based information on this condition is the most effective “treatment” and reliance should not be given on surgical intervention or other techniques.

Mr Hullen has repeatedly and consistently given advice to Mr McAvoy of the need for him to take control of his symptoms and to maintain his activity. In my original assessment and reviewing the booklet I was provided with entitled “The Professional Security Officer” there was no information to suggest that any single security officer would be involved in fire fighting type duties particularly those involving the wearing of presumably heavy self-contained breathing apparatus units. It also made no mention of the need for a running out of fire hoses which can involve heavy physical work. If Mr McAvoy were to be employed using the general duties of the security officer outlined in the above document, it is still my opinion that he would be able to undertake the active roles of patrolling and searching etc.

My previous advice was that he would be unable to cope with heavy physical work and clearly if this is a major component of his role in his current employment it would be necessary to consider carefully how the definitions of ill-health retirement might apply in this case.

There does not appear to be any mention in the definition of redeployment to suitable alternative work or the adaptation of work to take account of medical disabilities as would be required under the Disabilities Discrimination Act.

If Mr McAvoy were to be employed in a role that did not require heavy physical work such as either fire fighting or the wearing of heavy breathing apparatus, he would undoubtedly be able to continue undertaking the majority of activities that were described to me.

The conclusion I draw in this case is that the Trustees must carefully review their definitions to determine whether they are meant to apply after appropriate adaptations in the workplace, thereby complying with the Disability Discrimination Act or whether they must be read at face value.
My interpretation of the incapacity criteria appear to indicate that they would apply if an individual was medically restricted to an extent where no suitable work could be found for them. Clearly, Mr McAvoy is medically capable of work other than the heavy work that I would assume to be part of his fire-fighting duties. The implication, therefore, must in my opinion be readdressed by management as to whether alternative/restricted duties would have been available to him.

The extension for that is that this case hinges on what it considered to be the normal duties and the adaptations that might be applied in the workplace. If these questions were to be answered, I would be happy to re-visit this case once clarification has been obtained.”
19. The Pensions Director wrote to Mr McAvoy on 3 May 2005:

“The Trustees have considered your complaint under the first stage of the Internal Dispute Resolution procedure … The Trustees have considered your complaint carefully and have not upheld it for the reason set out below …

The basis of your dispute is that you are now in possession of additional medical information and also believe that the job description supplied to Aon Health Solutions … did not cover all the elements of your position. Aon had previously been supplied with a general manual entitled ‘The Professional Security Officer’ but this did not include details relating to other aspects of the job you were employed to carry out … we requested a statement from Royal Ordnance … This was duly supplied by … Safety, Health, Environment and Security Manager … You subsequently agreed with the statement …

This additional information was then supplied to Dr Wallington … The purpose of the exercise being to determine whether the new information regarding fire fighting including the use of breathing apparatus would have had an impact on the results of the original IMA. The findings of this review were then sent to the Scheme Trustees for consideration.
In view of the additional medical information supplied, the Scheme Trustees have decided that their original decision should remain unchanged, this being that in their opinion you do not qualify for a pension based on Full Medical Retirement. In making this decision the Trustees are confident that they have acted correctly and in accordance with the Scheme Rules.”

20. Mr McAvoy appealed against the decision and submitted a report by a consultant orthopaedic surgeon, Mr Gray (see Appendix 2). This report, together with the previous medical evidence was reviewed by the Trustees’ Medical Adviser, Dr Kellerman, in January 2006. He provided a certificate indicating that, in his opinion, Mr McAvoy was “not a suitable candidate for Full Medical Retirement”. Dr Kellerman said:

“In summary, Mr McAvoy has a 20-year history of intermittent low back pain and has been examined and investigated by three consultant orthopaedic surgeons and a pain specialist, all of whom have concluded that he has mechanical low back pain. This condition is managed entirely conservatively and the cornerstone of treatment is establishment and maintenance of a good level of general fitness, including directed exercises to improve back strength. During acute flare-ups, recourse to anti-inflammatory and analgesic medications can prove invaluable. Mr McAvoy has tried very hard to alleviate his low back pain symptoms and has sought treatment from a variety of practitioners. His long-term prognosis would, however, be best served by pursuing the treatment modalities above, as this is likely to, at least, arrest the progress of his symptoms. He would certainly not be excluded from employment and, on the contrary, a sedentary existence that would accompany invalid status is likely to have a deleterious effect on his spinal problems. He should, however, not work in a post that involves heavy lifting, as described in Dr Wallington’s report of May 2004. Consequently, I do not think the initial report provided by Dr Gray alters the diagnosis, prognosis or fitness for employment in this gentleman’s case.”

21. The Trustees rejected Mr McAvoy’s appeal in February 2006. The Pensions Director informed Mr McAvoy of this decision on 23 February 2006.
22. In response, Mr McAvoy asked why his independent medical assessment did not meet the criteria for incapacity retirement and whether it had been sent to Dr Wallington. Group Pensions replied:

“… the Trustees are of the opinion that you do not qualify for a pension based on the definition of Full Medical Retirement. This is a matter of opinion based on the evidence presented.”

They explained that the additional evidence submitted by Mr McAvoy had been reviewed by the Trustees’ Medical Adviser and that he had not deemed it necessary to request a review by Capita Health Solutions.

23. BAE were asked, ‘Would Mr McAvoy have been able to remain employed as a Security, Fire and Rescue Office with BAE if it was likely that he would be unable to use breathing apparatus or undergo refresher training, if and when required, or if it was likely that his duties would be restricted by his back condition to those which did not involve heavy lifting or repeated bending?’ In response, BAE said:

“The inability to carry out heavy lifting would not have prevented an individual from carrying on in the Guardforce, taking into account the duties expected of the Guardforce at the time Mr McAvoy left the company, particularly as training with breathing apparatus was not relevant to the skills needed to carry out the Guardforce job at that time.”

24. BAE have explained that Mr McAvoy applied for redundancy in 2002 and left in May 2002. Mr McAvoy says that he was made compulsorily redundant.
SUBMISSIONS

Mr McAvoy

25. Mr McAvoy submits:

25.1. He was not told by the Trustees why he did not meet the criteria for ill health retirement after submitting Mr Gray’s report;

25.2. The history of his health from 1984 to 2002 was not fully considered;

25.3. At the time he was made redundant, he was off sick with low back pain and has been unable to work since May 2002;

25.4. For the first 10 years of his employment, he did manual handling duties, including lifting 1,250 25kg bags per week. He had not received any manual handling training and is now suffering with low back and neck pain;

25.5. His pension should be backdated to June 2003 when he first applied for it;
25.6. He had informed the medical department about his back problems in June 1996. Mr McAvoy has provided a copy of an “Application for Special Paid Leave for Prescribed Medical Treatment/Examination” form, completed in June 1996, which he says was for chiropractic treatment;
25.7. He is prepared to undergo a further examination by an independent orthopaedic consultant, if the Trustees and he can agree as to the consultant’s independence;
25.8. He has submitted a certificate from Strathclyde Fire Brigade showing that, in 1992, he completed a three day “Combined BA/Firefighting” course. He has also submitted a Certificate of Proficiency dated 27 August 2000 for the wearing and donning of breathing apparatus, together with details of a “Guard Force Training Programme” covering fire-fighting and first aid;
25.9. He questions why he was sent on a breathing apparatus training course in August 2000 if it was not relevant to his job. He points out that only four of the seven people on his shift were trained in the use of breathing apparatus and he was one of those. This is confirmed in a statement from a colleague, who also states that the other three members of the shift performed normal security duties only;
25.10. He has submitted a letter from Jobcentreplus, dated 13 April 2006, confirming that he has been found eligible for an incapacity benefit. The letter states that Mr McAvoy’s case will be reviewed in April 2009;
25.11. His daily duties were:

Check breathing apparatus;

Run out fire hoses;

Check fire equipment;

Attend emergency incidents;

Undertake exercises at weekends;

Undertake ladder drills at fire station;

Undertake exercises in the practical use of breathing apparatus in smoke filled situations in a training building.
25.12. He has provided statements from three colleagues who agree with his description of his duties;
25.13. He was involved in many fire-fighting activities during the 12 years preceding the termination of his employment. He was involved in many fires and was responsible for taking eight people to the occupational health department. Occurrence reports were made of these incidents. He also attended an explosion and a fire at the Gun Propellant Section and many “fume-offs”;
25.14. No adaptations were made to his employment conditions to comply with the Disability Discrimination Act. He was not offered alternative or restricted duties;
25.15. Dr Kellerman commented that he would not be excluded from employment and that a sedentary existence was likely to have a “deleterious effect” on his spinal problems. The Trustees’ Guidelines state that medical advisers should not comment on extraneous matters or make value judgements about the applicant. Dr Kellerman’s comments were inappropriate and the Trustees should not have based their decision on them.

The Trustees
26. The Trustees’ solicitors submit:

26.1. Mr McAvoy’s job title was Security, Fire and Rescue Officer;
26.2. The definition of Full Medical Retirement referred to when Mr McAvoy’s application was first considered was taken from the Rules in force as at 21 November 2001 (see Appendix 1, paragraph 1). However, the Deed of Amendment dated 11 March 2003 was in force and had amended the relevant rule. This version of the rule was referred to in the later stages of Mr McAvoy’s case. For example, the definitions set out in Group Pensions’ letter of 15 July 2004, although paraphrasing, clearly refer to the 2003 definitions. Nothing turns on the differences between the two versions of the rule;
26.3. The principal rule dealing with ill health retirement from deferred status is A29(d)(v) (see Appendix 1, paragraph 3). This remained unchanged between the 2001 and 2003 deeds;
26.4. Rule A29(d)(v) refers back to paragraph (c) of Rule A15. The applicable version of Rule A15 should be that of the 2003 Deed. The availability of an immediate pension on grounds of incapacity under Rule A29(d)(v) turns on whether Mr McAvoy fulfils the definition of Full Medical Retirement;
26.5. Full Medical Retirement means retirement due to a state of health which “Permanently prevents the Member from performing his Duties”. “Duties” is defined in Rule A15;
26.6. Case law indicates that the definition of “duties” should be interpreted to mean the core or essential duties required of an employee at the time of cessation of employment, together with duties similar to such core duties. This would be the same under both versions of the rule;
26.7. Mr McAvoy’s essential core duties were those of a security officer, i.e. man guarding, protection of premises and property, patrolling, etc. In the 12 years that Mr McAvoy was employed as a Security, Fire and Rescue Officer, he was not involved in any fire-fighting activities, as distinct from training exercises, nor was he involved in any rescue activities. This is in contrast to a full time professional fire-fighter, who would be expected to be called out on a daily or weekly basis to extinguish fires and perform rescue operations;
26.8. R v West Yorkshire Fire and Civil Defence Authority, ex parte Lockwood and another [2000] All ER (D) 901 is relevant here. In this case, the Trustees had argued that a fire-fighter could not be considered disabled within the meaning of the scheme rules if he was capable of performing some duties required under his contract, albeit that he was not capable of fire-fighting. The judge was not persuaded by this argument and referred to a previous case (R v Sussex Police Authority, ex parte Stewart [2000] 35 PBLR) in which the judge had said:

“the hypothetical member of the force whose ordinary duties the Regulations must have in mind is the holder of the office of constable who may properly be required to discharge any of the essential functions of that office, including therefore operational duty.”

26.9. Trustees of the Saffil Pension Scheme v John Mark Curzon [2005] EWHC 293 and a previous determination (K00543) support the assertion that “duties” should be interpreted to mean the core or essential duties, together with duties similar to those core or essential duties;
26.10. Mr McAvoy was provided with a copy of the training manual “The Professional Security Officer” in lieu of a job description. This outlines the duties of a professional security officer;
26.11. The e-mail from the Operations, Safety, Health, Environment and Security Manager stated:

“Guards were trained as a first level response team to site emergencies which necessitated them being fully trained fire-fighters including specialist breathing apparatus training. All guards were first aid trained and trained to NVQ level 2. Duties also included man guarding, protection of premises and property, access control and knowledge and experience of the Bishopton site”

The first two sentences deal with the training provided, it is to be inferred, to address the parts of the job title of “Fire and Rescue Officer”. The third sentence summarises, it is to be inferred, the “Security … Officer” and provides information about the skill and knowledge required for the “Security … Officer”;
26.12. It is common ground that Mr McAvoy’s condition would have prevented him from undertaking duties which involved heavy lifting or lifting associated with frequent bending. The medical evidence, however, established that he would have been able to undertake the activities necessary for his core duties;
26.13. In response to Mr McAvoy’s submission to this office, the Trustees provided a letter from a processing manager in the engineering department at the site in question. This can be found in Appendix 3;
26.14. Dr O’Brien concluded, “there is no reason why he should not be able to continue in remunerative employment and, in fact, this will be to the benefit of the back.”

26.15. Dr Wallington said, “with the exception of heavy lifting and work requiring frequent lifting and bending, there is no reason why Mr McAvoy should not remain in employment.” Following reports from Dr McCallum and Mr Hullin, Dr Wallington further concluded that Mr McAvoy needed to remain active. Having read the booklet, “The Professional Security Officer”, Dr Wallington concluded:

“if Mr McAvoy were to be employed using the general duties of the security officer outlined in the above document, it is still my opinion that he would be able to undertake the active roles of patrolling and searching etc … If Mr McAvoy were to be employed in a role that did not require heavy physical work such as either fire fighting or the wearing of heavy breathing apparatus, he would undoubtedly be able to continue undertaking the majority of activities that were described to me.”
26.16. Mr Gray, in concluding that Mr McAvoy would not have been able to follow his normal employment, appears to assume that the fire and rescue activities were a core part of Mr McAvoy’s duties. Mr McAvoy’s summary of what was said by Group Pensions in their letter of 25 January 2005 (see paragraph 15) bears very little resemblance to what was said. It is, accordingly, not surprising that Mr Gray reached the conclusions he did, based on this summary;
26.17. Dr Kellerman concluded, “he would certainly not be excluded from employment and, on the contrary, a sedentary existence … is likely to have a deleterious effect on his spinal problems. He should, however, not work in a post that involves heavy lifting …”

BAE

27. BAE submits:

27.1. The employer’s permission is not needed for the Trustees to grant ill health early retirement from deferred status. It does not believe that it should be a party to Mr McAvoy’s complaint.

CONCLUSIONS

28. Mr McAvoy applied for the early payment of his benefits on the grounds of ill health as a deferred member and is, therefore, subject to Rule A29(d)(v) (see paragraph 3, Appendix 1). Under A29(d)(v), in order to receive his benefits prior to normal retirement age, Mr McAvoy must fulfil the requirements of paragraph (c) of Rule A15 (as amended), i.e. be subject to Full Medical Retirement. In other words, the Trustees must be of the opinion that Mr McAvoy’s medical condition permanently prevents him from undertaking his former duties.

29. “Duties” is defined in Rule A15 as the duties the member was employed to perform at the time his employment ended. It also includes such other duties as the Trustees consider could be found for the member and that it would be reasonable for him to undertake. I am inclined to agree with the Trustees that there was no material difference between the 2001 and 2003 versions of paragraph (c) of Rule A15 and that any reference to the earlier version was not injurious to Mr McAvoy’s case.
30. The disagreement between the parties centres on what Mr McAvoy’s former duties were. I am surprised that, given the relatively short time between the end of Mr McAvoy’s employment and his application for benefit, no job description was available. I am satisfied, however, that appropriate steps were taken to ascertain what Mr McAvoy’s duties were.

31. It is Mr McAvoy’s position that the fire-fighting role was a significant part of his duties and that this involved heavy physical work, e.g. the wearing of breathing apparatus and rolling out hoses. It is agreed that Mr McAvoy’s back condition is such that he should avoid heavy physical work, particularly that which involves lifting or repeated bending. The Trustees take the view that the relevant duties to consider are the “core or essential” duties of Mr McAvoy’s former post. They consider that the duties identified by Mr McAvoy did not form a significant part of his duties and that he would be able to undertake the role of a Security, Fire and Rescue Officer notwithstanding his back condition.
32. The Trustees’ solicitors have referred me to a number of cases, including a determination by a previous Pensions Ombudsman. These are helpful, up to a point, but one thing that emerges from a review of the cases in question is that an interpretation of the requirements of the Rules rests firmly on the specific wording of the Rules. In both the West Yorkshire and Sussex Police cases, the reference in question was to the duties of a specific role (in one, a firefighter and, in the other, a police constable). In the Saffil case and again in K00543, the rule was less tightly drafted (in the first, it referred to “his ordinary work” and, in the second, to “his normal employment”).
33. Rule A15(a)(v) refers to:

“… the duties which the Member is employed to perform … or any other duties, taking account of the state of the Member’s physical and mental health at the time in question, that the Trustees consider … could be found for the Member either with the Employer or with any other employer and which the Trustees consider it reasonable for the Member to undertake”
34. The Trustees’ solicitors have argued strongly for the definition of “Duties” to be confined to, what they describe as, the core or essential duties of the member’s post. But this is not what the definition says. There is no reference to core or essential duties; merely to the duties the member is employed to perform. In both the West Yorkshire and Sussex Police cases, the pension schemes had sought to argue that the members were not eligible for incapacity retirement because they were still capable of performing some of the duties of their posts. The difference being that, in those cases, it was, what could be described as, core duties which the members could not perform: fighting fires in the first and apprehending criminals in the second. The argument put forward in Mr McAvoy’s case is, in essence, the mirror image of this, i.e. that he can perform the core duties of his post but not the “peripheral” ones.

35. Mr McAvoy has sought to counter this argument by suggesting that the duties identified as peripheral were, in fact, a significant part of his duties. I have to say that the evidence tends to suggest otherwise, i.e. that the role of the Guardforce had changed over time so that its role in emergency situations, such as fires, had lessened considerably. Mr McAvoy, himself, has said that there were members of his shift who were not trained in the use of breathing apparatus.
36. Having said this, I am not persuaded that the Rule provides for the dissection of a member’s duties in the way suggested. Had the Rule referred to “some or all” of his Duties, I would have been more inclined to favour the approach suggested by the Trustees. As it is, I accept that the duties for which Mr McAvoy was employed included the wearing of breathing apparatus and rolling out hoses.
37. However, the Rule does not only refer to the duties for which the member is employed. It also refers to “any other duties, taking account of the Member’s physical or mental health … that the Trustees consider … could be found for the Member either with the Employer or with any other employer and which [they] consider it reasonable for the Member to undertake”. To my mind, this widens out the Rule so that it is more akin to the “his ordinary work” or “his normal employment” version. It allows the Trustees to consider whether the member might be capable of other duties, with the concomitant provision that, if he is, this would mean he did not meet the definition of “Full Medical Retirement”.
38. I would, however, draw attention to the provision that the Trustees must consider that it is reasonable for the member to undertake these other duties. I suggest that appropriate test would be the “same or similar” employment test put forward in the Saffil case.

39. Whilst therefore I do not accept the core versus peripheral argument proffered by the Trustees (or their solicitors), I do find that eligibility for Full Medical Retirement is not confined to an inability simply to perform the totality of those duties which the member had been performing prior to the termination of his employment.
40. Mr McAvoy is, more likely than not, unable to fulfil those of his former duties connected with fighting fires and/or the wearing of breathing apparatus. These duties cannot be cleaved from the other duties of a Security, Fire and Rescue Officer. However, these are the most extreme components of Mr McAvoy’s duties, and it would not overstretch the phrase “same or similar employment” to suggest that Mr McAvoy would still be capable of performing the more restricted role of a security officer, absent of those extremes. Nor would it be unreasonable to use this role as a benchmark. In the previous determination referred to above, the Ombudsman considered the test applied in Derby Daily Telegraph v The Pensions Ombudsman [1999] 35 PBLR p6. He came to the conclusion that the same or similar job should use the skills and processes which the member was familiar with. A regular security officer’s position would match this.

41. I am happy to accept Mr McAvoy’s assertion that he had not been offered restricted duties and that he had been trained in the use of breathing apparatus. However, this is not the test set out in the Scheme Rules. The Rule also refers to other duties which the Trustees consider could be found for the member and which they consider it would be reasonable for the member to undertake. The Rule does not actually require that the member be offered the alternative duties. Mr McAvoy has said that there were members of the Guardforce who were not required to use breathing apparatus; although he was not offered this option. The fact that there were members of his shift who did not perform the duties which medical advice agreed Mr McAvoy could not, i.e. heavy physical work such as wearing breathing apparatus, supports the argument that the role of a regular security officer comes within the ambit of “same or similar” employment.

42. Whilst we may differ in the route taken, the Trustees and I have reached the same conclusion; Mr McAvoy has not been able to show that he meets the requirements necessary to receive a pension under Rule A29(d)(v). I do not therefore uphold his complaint.
CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

24 August 2007

APPENDIX 1
Trust Deed and Rules

43. As at 21 November 2001, Rule A15 ‘Retirement on Medical Grounds’ provided:
“(a)
This Rule applies to a Crown Service Member who is either retired from Service on medical grounds due to Incapacity or subject to Full Medical Retirement (both as hereinafter defined). For the purposes of this Rule:

(i) “Incapacity” means physical or mental disability or illness which in the opinion of the Trustees (acting on the advice of the Medical Officer or in reliance upon evidence produced by the Member) prevents the Members from following his normal employment and/or which seriously impairs his earning capacity; and
(ii) “Full Medical Retirement” means retirement from Service on medical grounds due to Incapacity (resulting from accident or bodily or mental infirmities) which in the opinion of the Trustees (acting on the advice of the Medical Officer or in reliance upon evidence produced by the Member) permanently prevents the Member from performing his duties.
(b) If the Crown Service Member is retired on account of Incapacity not qualifying the Member for Full Medical Retirement he will, subject to the approval of the Principal Employer and the Trustees, be paid an immediate pension and lump sum on retirement calculated in accordance with paragraph (a) of Rule A14 [Retirement on or after Normal Pension Age] but subject to the limits specified in Annex 1[HMRC limits].
(c) If the Crown Service Member is subject to Full Medical Retirement, then:

(i) if he has completed on retirement at least five years’ Qualifying Service he will be paid an immediate pension and lump sum in accordance with Rule A14 but subject to the limits specified in Annex 1 with Pensionable Service enhanced by the period which would have been included in Pensionable Service if he had stayed in Service working Full-time Hours until Normal Pension Age subject to a minimum period equal to that which would have applied to him had he remained in membership of his Former Scheme (hereinafter the enhancement is called “Potential Service”); and

(ii) …

(d) If a Crown Service Member who is in retirement on grounds of Incapacity or is in Full Medical Retirement and is in receipt of a pension in accordance with paragraph (b) or (c) of this Rule (as applicable) recovers before Normal Pension Age sufficiently to be able in the opinion of the Trustees to earn an income, which when taken together with the pension being paid in accordance with paragraph (b) or (c) of this Rule (as applicable) is at a level which exceeds or could be reasonably expected to exceed the level of his earnings had he remained in Service, then the Trustees may at their absolute discretion from time to time reduce or suspend his pension until Normal Pension Age.
(e) …”

44. Rule A15 was amended by a Deed of Amendment dated 11 March 2003 and, from that date, provides:
“(a)
This Rule applies to a Crown Service Member who is either Retired on account of Incapacity not amounting to Full Medical Retirement or subject to Full Medical Retirement (as hereinafter defined). For the purposes of this Rule:

(iii) “Incapacity” means physical or mental deterioration which exists at the time the Member’s employment ends and, which, in the opinion of the Trustees (acting on the advice of the Medical Officer or in reliance upon evidence produced by the Member), is sufficiently serious to Permanently prevent the Members from following his normal employment. It does not mean simply a decline in energy or ability;

(iv) “Full Medical Retirement” means Retirement from Service due to the state of the Member’s physical or mental health (resulting from accident or bodily or mental infirmities) which exists at the time the Member’s employment ends and which, in the opinion of the Trustees (acting on the advice of the Medical Officer or in reliance upon evidence produced by the Member), Permanently prevents the Member from performing his Duties.
(v) “Duties” means, in relation to a Member, the duties which the Member is employed to perform at the time the Member’s employment ends but which the Member was prevented from performing as a result of the state of the Member’s physical or mental health (resulting from accident or bodily or mental infirmity) or any other duties, taking account of the state of the Member’s physical and mental health at the time in question, that the Trustees consider, ignoring for this purpose any shortage or absence of work, could be found for the Member either with the Employer or with any other employer and which the Trustees consider it reasonable for the Member to undertake;
(vi) “Retirement” means retirement from Service:

(i)
at the election of the Member; or

(ii)
of the Member by the Member’s Employer;

and “Retired” shall be construed accordingly;

(vii)
“Permanently” means, on the balance of probabilities, until at least the Member’s Normal Pension Age.

(b)
If the Crown Service Member is Retired on account of Incapacity not qualifying the Member for Full Medical Retirement he will, subject to the approval of the Principal Employer and the Trustees, be paid an immediate pension and lump sum on retirement calculated in accordance with paragraph (a) of Rule A14 [Retirement on or after Normal Pension Age] but subject to the limits specified in Annex 1 [HMRC limits].
(c) If the Crown Service Member is subject to Full Medical Retirement, then:

(i) if he has completed on retirement at least five years’ Qualifying Service he will be paid an immediate pension and lump sum in accordance with Rule A14 but subject to the limits specified in Annex 1 with Pensionable Service enhanced by the period which would have been included in Pensionable Service if he had stayed in Service working Full-time Hours until Normal Pension Age subject to a minimum period equal to that which would have applied to him had he remained in membership of his Former Scheme (hereinafter the enhancement is called “Potential Service”); and

(ii) …

(d)
(i)
If a Crown Service Member who is in retirement on grounds of Incapacity or is in Full Medical Retirement and is in receipt of a pension in accordance with paragraph (b) or (c) of this Rule (as applicable) recovers before Normal Pension Age sufficiently to be able in the opinion of the Trustees to earn an income, which when taken together with the pension being paid in accordance with paragraph (b) or (c) of this Rule (as applicable) is at a level which exceeds or could be reasonably expected to exceed the level of his earnings had he remained in Service, then the Trustees may at their absolute discretion from time to time reduce or suspend his pension until Normal Pension Age.

(ii)
If

(A)
a Crown Service Member is in retirement on grounds of Incapacity, and

(B)
is in receipt of a pension in accordance with paragraph (b) of this Rule, and

(C)
the Trustees and the Principal Employer are both satisfied that, in the light of subsequent medical evidence relating to the state of the Member’s physical or mental health (resulting from accident or bodily or mental infirmity) existing at the time the Member’s employment ended that it would have been appropriate to treat that Crown Service Member as being subject to Full Medical Retirement,
with effect from such date as the Trustees and the Principal Employer may together determine, the Crown Service Member’s pension shall be increased …”

45. With effect from 11 March 2003, Rule A29(d)(v) provides:

“If the deferred pensioner before Normal Pension Age is incapacitated to such an extent that in the opinion of the Trustees acting on medical evidence paragraph (c) of Rule A15 could have applied to him, had he not left Service, then the deferred pension may commence from the date of incapacity as determined by the Trustees and without reduction and the lump sum may be paid without reduction at that time …”
APPENDIX 2

Medical Evidence

Mr McAvoy’s GP

46. In his response to Dr O’Brien, dated 1 September 2003, Mr McAvoy’s GP said:

“Mr McAvoy has been on my list since 1987 …

The first time he complained of back pain was on (sic) February 1984 and he had been having the back pain ever since and has received various treatments, painkillers, anti-inflammatory drugs, physiotherapy etc. Gradually his back pain got worse and became more frequent. He was first seen by an Orthopaedic Surgeon, Mr McCreath … in March 1984 and he made the diagnosis of mechanical low back pain.

… In May 1996 he had an acute exacerbation of his back pain and was seen at the A&E … was given treatment and was advised to rest.

He was first seen by Mr Hullin … on 8.12.97, and he maintained that same diagnosis of mechanical low back pain. He was seen … in October 1998, his lumbar spine x-ray did not show abnormality and was advised to maintain mobility … He was seen by Mr Hullin in July 1999. He was seen at the A&E … on 17.10.99. He was seen by Mr Hullin on 18.12.00. He was seen at the A&E … in March and April 03 and by Mr Hullin on 4.4.03.
He has attended the Physiotherapists on and off for the past 10 years. He was given local steroid injections several times, muscle relaxants and various analgesics and anti-inflammatory …

Mr McAvoy’s back pain goes back to 1984 and although he was given a diagnosis of mechanical low back pain, he continued to suffer from this low back pain and did not respond to various forms of therapies and Pharmacological treatment.

He has lost a lot of time off work over the past 15 years. It is likely that his back pain would continue or worsen in the future and I do not see that he is going to be able to continue working on a continuous base.”

47. The letter written by Mr McAvoy’s GP to Capita, on 23 January 2004, was virtually identical to his letter to Dr O’Brien and concluded:

“Mr McAvoy’s back pain goes back to 1984 and he is still in pain in spite of his various treatments. He has had a lot of time off work over the past 15 years. It is likely that his pain would continue or worsen in the future and I do not see that he would be able to continue in a productive employment.

I support the proposal to retire him on health grounds.”

Mr Hullin
48. On 9 December 1997, Mr Hullin wrote to Mr McAvoy’s GP:

“… This gentleman who works as a Security Guard gives a 2 year history of pain in his low back. He is currently working and has not lost any time off work recently. He has attended an Osteopath in the past who gave him a 6 week course of “laser treatment” and he still sees him about once a month. Currently he has more bad days than good and he finds he can only walk for about half an hour or so and can sit for about 45 minutes. Standing is not a problem. He only gets occasional night pain … He has no pain radiating down his legs and no altered sensation in his legs. No past medical history of note. He is taking analgesia.

On examination spinal flexion is normal at 5 cm with distraction but he tends to have a marked list to the right on forward flexion. On formal examination sitting on the couch he has no evidence of a list or scoliosis. He has no evidence of nerve root tension or compression with normal tone, power, sensation and reflexes in the legs. Straight leg raising with distraction is 90 degrees bilaterally and he has a full range of pain free movements. He has superficial tenderness all over the low back and over reacts to examination.

X-rays are normal.

Opinion- This gentleman has simple mechanical back pain. I have given him general advice about the care of his back, the importance of exercises. I have reassured him that there is no serious underlying abnormality and not arranged to see him again.”

49. Mr Hullin saw Mr McAvoy again in October 1998 and wrote to his GP:

“… He continues to have pain localised to his low back with no radiation. This has been troubling him now for six years and he has tried a number of treatments … which he feels has made no difference. He is convinced that he has a curve in his spine which is the cause of his problems.
On examination he can stand erect and he moves well around the consulting room. He is generally, but non specifically tender in the lower lumbar spine. Although he does have asymmetrical skin creases on standing, the spine appears straight and certainly there is no evidence of a structural scoliosis on forward flexion of the spine which moves well. There are no nerve root tension signs and no objective neurological signs.
On reviewing his xrays … these are normal …

I had a long chat with him today and he is clearly disgruntled with life. I have re-iterated to him the fact that he has mechanical back pain for which there is no surgical treatment. I have explained the importance of maintaining mobility and strengthening the back … He seemed rather unhappy … and clearly wants something done but surgery will not be considered here.”
50. In July 1999, Mr Hullin wrote to Mr McAvoy’s GP:

“This gentleman is again complaining of aggravation of his previous symptoms with additional radiation of the pain down the right leg into the foot. This all happened about two months ago, lasted for about three weeks and then resolved itself.
On examination today he has a good range of movement of the lumbar spine with straight leg raising to 90 degrees on both sides with no pain and no distal neurological deficit. I have simply reassured him and discharged him from the clinic.”

51. Mr Hullin wrote to the GP again in December 2000:

“This gentleman has been seen on three occasions in my clinic since 1997 with a diagnosis of mechanical back pain on each occasion and on each occasion has been given reassurance about the importance of exercise and mobility …
On examination spinal flexion is normal at 5cms. There is no evidence of nerve root tension or compression. There are no signs of inappropriate illness behaviour. Xrays are unchanged from 3 years ago.

This gentleman still has simple mechanical low back pain and there is no evidence of nerve root tension or compression. I have had another long chat with him about the chronicity of his back pain and he himself admits that he has found no treatment modality helpful … I would strongly recommend against any further intervention such as the pain clinic or a course of hydrotherapy as this will only reinforce his belief that there is a treatment that will make any difference to him. He seems very unwilling to take responsibility for his own back pain and I have spent a considerable length of time explaining to him that it is important that he manages his own back pain, does not seek medical or other help for a problem for which there is no solution …”

52. In April 2003, Mr Hullin wrote to the GP:

“This man attended the Management Building of Southern General today demanding to be seen even though it is three years since I last saw him.

He tells me that his GP referred him to physiotherapy … but he has not heard anything about this. He is taking analgesia which is not helping. His main complaints appear to be associated with mechanical pain affecting his neck with some radiation to the right shoulder.

I have tried to explain to this man that there is no indication for further investigation or specific treatment and I have not arranged any further investigation or intervention …”

53. On 28 July 2004, Mr Hullin wrote:

“… Mr McAvoy, who had concerns about the content of a letter I wrote about him, dated from 18th December 2000. Mr McAvoy feels my comments, that he was unwilling to take responsibility for his own back pain, may be interpreted as that he was not trying to help himself.

I accept that this interpretation could be made and am happy to say that he is trying very hard to manage his back pain, although all his attempts so far have failed. My interpretation of the letter is that it is important that he does try and take control of his back pain by efforts other than the use of osteopathy or physiotherapy, which have been shown not to be successful. It is important that he finds coping mechanisms within himself, rather than attempting to drive a cure through external means.”

Dr Doherty

54. Dr Doherty wrote to Capita on 16 January 2004, following an examination on 13 January 2004:

“Mr McAvoy is being considered by BAE Systems for early payment of retirement benefits due to incapacity. He actually left BAE Systems in May 2002. He had worked there for 23 years and his job was as a Fireman/Security Officer …

He has had very long-standing problems with back pain. These became particularly problematical in about 1996 …

He has had a variety of medications over the years and currently he takes … The GP states that the diagnosis has always been of mechanical low back pain. His health is otherwise satisfactory and there are no other ongoing health problems …

He describes his pain as a constant ache in his lower middle back, which radiates over to the right side. He occasionally gets spasms and acute exacerbation of the pain, which can last for variable periods. Often these are very short. There is no radiation of pain down the legs, nor has there ever been. There are no problems with sensory loss in the legs or toes. Power in the lower limbs is normal and there has never been any bladder or bowel dysfunction.

He gets morning stiffness … and has difficulty getting out of bed initially. He finds bending down and lifting moderate weights difficult. He stated that he cannot do shopping, housework, etc. He is unable to do DIY around the house. He can walk for approximately 10 minutes before his back pain forces him to stop for a few minutes. He can sit for approximately half an hour and then needs to stand up, stretch etc. He has no problems with pedicure.

On examination he had little difficulty getting out of the chair or undressing. He was able to sit still throughout the consultation. He was tall and thin and there was loss of lumbar lordosis. He had reasonable movement of his lumbo-sacral spine although these were limited because of pain. There was some tenderness around L4/5 and S1 and over the right sacro-iliac joint. SLR was to 60 degrees on the right and on the left. Reflexes and power in both lower limbs were normal.

I agree that the diagnosis is chronic mechanical low back pain. Mr McAvoy has lost a lot of time over the years with this condition and it would appear that there has been little improvement since his voluntary redundancy … However he still awaits further treatment.

If he was still employed, then at this time I think he would be unfit to work as a Fireman/Security Officer. He might however be fit for desk based work provided that he was able to stand up and stretch periodically. The likelihood is that he would be permanently unfit for fire duties given the length of time he’s had problems, although he still hasn’t been seen by the pain clinic yet.

You will obviously be reporting on my findings to the Pension Scheme of BAE Systems. I am not familiar with this and I am not sure whether there are various degrees of payment or indeed what the permanency criteria are.”

Mr McCallum

55. Mr McCallum is a Consultant in Anaesthesia and Pain Management. He wrote to Mr McAvoy’s GP on 23 July 2004:

“I saw this chap today at the Pain Clinic at the behest of Mr M Hullin. He has a history of working in a physical employment and one presumes he has had a series of minor back strains without taking the appropriate exercise programme to deal with them. This has resulted in generally increasing the axial skeletal pain, muscular in nature with increased stiffness on sitting and driving and getting worse during the day. He has no significant neurological changes. He has had physiotherapy … He has been getting positive response from chiropracty …
…

My impression is that he has very mild mechanical axial skeletal pain probably postural in nature as a result of some degree of spinal cord wind-up following numerous back strains in his previous employment. What he really needs is to gradually increase his exercise and mobility so I have advised him to continue with the chiropracty, especially those exercises, and to go swimming on a regular basis.

I thought it might be worthwhile to given him some … for 6 months to see if that helps reduce the wind-up within his spinal cord so I would be grateful if you could prescribe … I suspect there is nothing really more to offer him at this clinic but if he is very keen to be seen again please drop us a line …”

Mr Gray

56. Mr Gray prepared a report in October 2005, at the request of Mr McAvoy’s solicitors. He gave a brief history of Mr McAvoy’s health and employment and said:

“On examination I found Mr McAvoy to be a pleasant man who did not appear to exaggerate his symptoms …
Examination of his cranial nerves revealed no specific abnormality.

Examination of his cervical spine revealed tenderness over the upper cervical spinous processes (C2/3/4). He had 40º forward flexion (normal 60º), he had no extension (normal 30º). He had 10º left and right lateral flexion (normal 45º). He had 20º left and right lateral rotation (normal 60º). He had some pain at the limits of all movements. Elevation of his right shoulder was reduced and this produced some pain around his lower cervical spine. Other movements of the shoulder were normal. Elbow, wrist and finger joints had a full range of pain free movement. He had normal tone, power and sensibility throughout his upper limbs with normal reflexes.

Examination of his thoraco-lumbar spine revealed some tenderness in his mid thoracic and mid and lower lumbar region. There was a slight scoliosis which corrected. He was unable to flex his thoraco-lumbar spine as this caused significant pain in his mid and lower lumbar region. Standing back up caused pain.

He has no spinal extension, 20º of lateral flexion and normal lateral rotation. Straight leg raising was 70º on the right and 90º on the left and negative sciatic stretch test. Hip, knee, ankle and foot joints all had a full range of pain free movement. Tone, power and sensibility throughout his lower limbs was normal. He had normal reflexes.

…

OPINION

The symptoms and signs displayed by Mr McAvoy are all compatible with the diagnosis of longstanding mechanical back pain and neck pain.

Mr McAvoy provided a printout of an e-mail from BAE Systems regarding his claim indicating “the state of ill-health at the time employment ended was to such a degree that it prevented permanently his ability to follow normal employment”.

Mr McAvoy’s employment ended in May 2002. I have no information available as to his clinical condition at that time.

There is a copy of a letter date 22nd March 2005 from [Group Pensions] indicating that the job he carried out whilst employed at [BAE] was as a First Level Response Team to site emergencies which necessitated them being fully trained fire-fighters including specialist breathing apparatus training.

All guards were first-aid trained and trained at NVQ Level 2 and included man guarding protection of premises and property, access control and knowledge & experience of the Bishopton site. This appears to have been a job that involved a significant amount of physical activity carrying moderately heavy weights, climbing, crawling through holes etc whilst wearing breathing apparatus.

If Mr McAvoy’s condition at the time that he finished his employment was actually or very nearly like that as he is now I do not think he would have been able to follow his normal employment and it would appear that this is a permanent state of affairs …”

APPENDIX 3

Letter from Mr S, dated 14 May 2007

57. Mr S states:

“… I have been employed on the Bishopton site since 1 November 1973.

My current job is Processing Manager … I have been in this role since 2001.

My previous history is as follows:-

…

The name John McAvoy sounds familiar but I cannot put a face to the name.

Rocket Propellant section did have 3 Rolling Mill buildings but only 2 were in operation … Rolling mill fires were relatively common … Four fires in one day would be classed as excessive.

… The Fire Brigade or latterly the Guardforce would not normally be called out to a Rolling mill fire. They may have been involved only a few times per year …

…

There were two major incidents on Rocket Propellant … In both cases the Fire Brigade or Guardforce would give immediate first aid until the emergency services arrived.
On the Nitrocellulose (Guncotton) section there were occasional fume offs … Again this was treated as a minor occurrence and the Fire Brigade or Guardforce did not normally attend …

…

I have spoken to … regarding the Gun Propellant incident and the only one he recalls to mind is the screw extruder incident but that did not involve spraying water over the building for two days. This was a one-off incident which occurred in Aug 1991.

When the Fire Brigade was in existence the duties were broadly along the lines as Mr McAvoy details … This is based on my observations of the Fire Brigade during my time at the factory. The rolls of hose are quite heavy (I have no idea of a weight) and also the breathing apparatus is heavy … I have not worked directly with the Fire Brigade. Post 1990 the Guardforce would not be expected to put on breathing apparatus. The Guardforce occasionally delivered fire hoses to sections a few times per year and occasionally set up monitors once or twice during the summer months to soak areas of the Nitrocellulose burning grounds that could burst into flames on a very hot summers day.

The Fire Brigade was disbanded around 1990 and the Guardforce assumed some of the duties but were not expected to fight fires, that was the sole responsibility of the outside emergency services. The Guardforce were then expected to stand by, secure the area and direct the emergency services to the incident. They were trained first aiders and would be expected to give immediate first aid, make the patient comfortable until an ambulance arrived. Escorting people to Occupational Health would not involve physically carrying people on a stretcher.”
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